FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
10/26/2020 3:31 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/27/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99156-1
Court of Appeals No. 35872-1-III; No. 35911-5-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JULIE M. ATWOOD,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

MISSION SUPPORT ALLIANCE, LLC
and STEVE YOUNG,

Defendants/Respondents,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

THE SHERIDAN LAW FIRM, P.S.

John P. Sheridan, WSBA #21473
Mark W. Rose, WSBA #41916
Andra Kranzler, WSBA #44098
Justin O. Abbasi, WSBA #53582
Hoge Building, Suite 1200
705 Second Avenue
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 381-5949

Attorneys for Petitioner

I. Introduction and Identity of Petitioner

Julie Atwood asks this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals decision. That decision applied an improper *per se* rule for determining whether comparator evidence of pretext is relevant and admissible in a Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) trial, failing to give deference to the trial court and curtailing the jury's role.

II. The Court of Appeals Decisions

The Court of Appeals reversed the jury verdict on July 14, 2020, filing majority and dissenting opinions. (App. A). The Court denied Atwood's motion for reconsideration on September 24, 2020. (App. B).

III. Issues Presented for Review

1. Did the Court of Appeals review the evidence in the incorrect light?
2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in allowing the jury to weigh comparator evidence of pretext?
3. If admission of the comparator evidence was error, did the Court of Appeals apply an incorrect harmless error analysis?
4. Did the trial court abuse its discretion under ER 404(b)?
5. Was the front pay instruction prejudicially misleading?
6. Are appellate costs properly a matter for reconsideration?

IV. Statement of the Case

Mission Support Alliance, LLC ("MSA"), a Department of Energy ("DOE") contractor at Hanford, terminated Atwood on September 19, 2013—without explanation—immediately after its investigators cleared her of "time-charging" allegations and other alleged misconduct; and just one day after the investigators noted, "Atwood's performance is stellar and there is no indication of a performance or behavior issue on [her] recent

performance appraisal.” *See* RP 2876-80; Ex. 24. Atwood sued MSA for gender discrimination, retaliation for opposing discrimination, and wrongful discharge in violation of public policy; and she sued MSA’s Vice President Steve Young for aiding and abetting both statutory violations.¹ CP 11052, 11054, 11056-57. In October 2017, after a month-long trial with 41 witnesses and over 100 exhibits, a unanimous Benton County jury found for Atwood on all claims. RP 4953. The jury awarded Atwood \$2.1 million in economic damages and \$6 million for emotional harm. CP 11043.

A. Comparator Evidence of Pretext

The Court of Appeals found, “Atwood used the comparators to imply that MSA had a duty to consider lesser discipline, which is to contend that she was not terminable at will—and she explicitly agreed to be terminable at will.” *Maj. Op.* at 38. The Court in the opinion alludes to, but fails to discuss when analyzing the comparator issue, that MSA utilizes a written “Standards of Conduct” applicable to all employees—admitted at trial as Exhibit 43—to determine the proper level of discipline for different levels of misconduct. *See Maj. Op.* at 3. On questioning, Young agreed that the Standards of Conduct was sort of MSA’s “Bible of ethics.” RP 2531. MSA’s VP of HR, Todd Beyers, testified he was not authorized “to make final decisions on discipline, all discipline actions.” RP 3327. Disciplinary decisions were made above VP Beyers—so MSA’s CEO Frank Armijo and

¹ Young, while MSA’s VP, was also the mayor of Kennewick. He died during the pendency of this appeal. ER 201; *Former Kennewick Mayor Steve Young dies*, Tri-City Herald (May 16, 2019), <https://www.tri-cityherald.com/news/local/article230510454.html>.

his COO David Ruscitto, decided all discipline. *See* RP 3327-28; *and* Maj. Op. at 13. Specifically, in the case of Atwood, Beyers confirmed the decision to terminate her was made by “the individual at the highest level of the company” (*i.e.*, by Armijo). RP 3313. Armijo treated men committing comparably serious acts as Atwood with leniency. *See infra*, V.B., at 14-15.

B. The Front Pay Instruction

The trial court instructed the jury to calculate future wage loss “from today until the time the plaintiff may reasonably be expected to retire or recover from the continuing effects of the discrimination and/or retaliation” *Compare* CP 11063, *with* WPI 330.82. The jury awarded \$2.1 million dollars in economic damages. MSA argued that the instruction is prejudicial *per se* because it misstated the law. *See* BA at 48. The Court of Appeals did not find that the instruction misstated the law; instead, it concluded the front pay instruction misled the jury and prejudiced MSA. *But see* RAP 12.1(a).

C. The Costs on Appeal

MSA filed a cost bill seeking \$139,231.69 from Atwood. Atwood addressed costs in her motion for reconsideration, but the Court of Appeals held costs are “not properly a matter for reconsideration where a request that the court deny costs was not raised in briefing the appeal.” App. B.

V. Argument

A. The Court of Appeals Reviewed the Facts in the Incorrect Light

“[T]he circumstances of a civil case, where life and liberty are not at issue, militate in favor of a standard that more generally upholds trial

court decisions.” *Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 140 Wn.2d 517, 539, 998 P.2d 856 (2000). In almost 30 pages of facts, the Court of Appeals casts Atwood, who is the whistleblower and the victim, as the villain and as unworthy of the verdict. Maj. Op. at 2-29. The majority dismissed the jury’s findings claiming, “Absent a sufficiency challenge, there is no need to conduct a review of the evidence in the light most favorable to Atwood” Maj. Op. at 2. Thereby, the majority ultimately concluded Atwood’s case was “not strong.” Maj. Op. at 39. In his dissent, Judge Lawrence-Berrey deferred to the jury’s special verdicts.² *Accord Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc.*, 164 Wn.2d 432, 449 n.7, 191 P.3d 879 (2008). This case is strong. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4). If the Court reaches harmless error, given the space available in this framework, the following closing arguments will suffice to show facts and motive in a light more favorable to Atwood than may be found in the majority’s opinion.

On the same record, Atwood’s counsel (“counsel”) argued to the jury in closing that Julie Atwood was not a discipline problem. She is a self-made woman from a humble background who has worked in waste management since when plutonium was still being manufactured at Hanford. RP 4715. In the 1980’s she worked in management in a “male-dominated world” and she overcame discrimination in the places she

² Dissent Op. at 4, n.2. The damage award may have motivated the majority. The dissent suggests it was difficult to defer to the jury “given the size of the verdict.” *Id.* At oral argument, much of the panel’s questions concerned the damage award and the forensic psychologist’s diagnosis, suggesting the size of Atwood’s emotional harm award was her “weakest area,” although the majority opinion did not address the issue. <https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/OralArgAudio/a03/20200128/358721.mp3>, at 16:29.

worked—she “doesn’t sue, doesn’t complain, she just succeeds.” RP 4717. She worked both in the public and private sectors, and held job titles like section manager, program manager, regional director in the public sector, and in the private sector, job titles like vice president, manager, project manager, key personnel, and owner of her own business. RP 4717-24. Mike Hughes, a retired Bechtel Hanford President, and other high-level managers from her past, all men, testified as to her knowledge, competency, and management style, which contributed to their successes. *Id.* Counsel argued that at MSA, she continued her excellent performance as outlined in performance evaluations created by her managers including Young. RP 4725-6, Exs. 5, 6, 7. Counsel noted that all DOE managers called as witnesses attested to her excellent performance at MSA. RP 4735-36.

In contrast, counsel argued that for most of Young’s career, he was an obscure self-employed consultant in a one-person office. Then he became the part-time mayor of Kennewick. After that, Armijo hired Young as a full-time MSA vice president. RP 4681. In closing, counsel read some of Young’s testimony to show his value to MSA and to DOE as mayor.

- “The biggest return on me being a mayor is the Department of Energy. I’m able to do what the Department of Energy can’t do because I’m an elected official.”
- “My job, one of my jobs as mayor, is the ability to go back, meet with the [U.S.] Senate, meet with the House.
- I can actually bump a regular citizen and testify before a committee about an issue because I’m an elected official.”
- “I use my vacation to go back and lobby -- and I’ll use the word lobby -- for the local offices for the needs that they have to try to get the money they need for the Hanford site.”

RP 4682. Counsel argued that Young knew his own importance and quoted

more of Young's testimony confirming that the local office of the "DOE understood that [Young] was going to Congress and lobbying for them, and admitted he was "an extremely valuable person" at Hanford and in his community because he's wearing those two hats. RP 4684.

Counsel argued on this record that Young admitted if he was wearing his hat as MSA's Vice President he would not have the same access to Congress as he got by being mayor. Counsel argued that Young is more valuable than other MSA vice presidents. RP 4683. On the issue of who had the power, which was a focus of the majority opinion, counsel argued, "So when you hear all of that talk about 'I was so worried that Jon Peschong was going to bully me,' Nobody can bully this guy. He is valued by Armijo who invited him to work." RP 4684. Counsel argued Young was friends with "Doug Shoop, the top [DOE] guy out there." Greg Jones, who "held the DOE purse strings," was another high-level DOE manager who was Young's lifelong friend. In evidence were records showing 3,000 phone calls between the two. *Id.*; RP 4768. Young could not be bullied by Atwood, whose job title was "lead," or by mid-level DOE manager Peschong.

On this record, counsel argued in closing that MSA was protecting an open secret. Everyone knew that since Young joined MSA in 2012, Young was paid over \$200,000 a year by U.S. taxpayers as a Vice President of DOE contractor MSA. He billed taxpayers as though he worked a 40-hour week, but he had no time sheets to document his work time until 2015. Young admitted he worked 16-20 hours every week on mayor business. RP

4679. Young admitted he used his DOE email account to do mayor business and did mayor-related business in his DOE office, on his DOE computer, during the workday. RP 4680. On this record, counsel argued that Young admits he kept and displayed his mayor-related appointments in a DOE calendar. “Now, this becomes important later on because remember the DeVere interview notes where the investigators noted that he actually denied [calendar] access to Ms. Atwood and others because DOE had complained or raised a question about him using his -- showing up on his calendar that he was attending a lot of mayor business”; this, by definition, supports a violation of the False Claims Act, by submitting Young’s time for payment by the DOE for 40 hours worked when he was working 16-20 hours on mayor business—without timecards and using DOE resources to work on his mayor business. RP 4681, 4689-90.

In August 2013, an anonymous complaint was filed against Young alleging he created a hostile work environment. RP 1861-64. Young admitted a complaint was filed against him. RP 2615; Ex. 9; *see also* RP 2584, 2586. On September 5, Young told Investigator Christine DeVere, “he believed it was *Julie Atwood*” who filed the complaint against him; it was not. RP 1862-63, 1866, 1868- 69; RP 2612-13. Counsel argued that Young went to Armijo with the intent to resign over the allegation, but after Armijo said, “I’ll look into it,” Young no longer intended to resign. RP 4743-44. In what counsel called a “refocusing of the spotlight” that was shining on Young, on September 9, COO Ruscitto announced at a DOE

meeting that Atwood was being investigated for timecard fraud. RP 4699, 4685. In closing counsel noted that DeVere testified you never go outside regarding a pending investigation until it is over—meaning you would not tell DOE unless something was found. RP 4746-47. Counsel argued, “why would the number two guy at the top [notify DOE of an ‘investigation’] ... unless they were now reacting to a perception that Mr. Young had been attacked by [Atwood]?” RP 4747. Counsel argued, “It’s more likely than not that Young thinks Julie is behind the calendar [questions raised by DOE]” as well. RP 4757. Counsel argued that, as evidenced by Young’s calendar (Ex. 185), he met with Ruscitto on September 11, 2013 at 4 p.m., and on September 12 at 7 a.m. he met with Ruscitto, Beyers, and Jensen; this meeting is where Young outlined possible allegations against Atwood, including the chart made by Assistant Morris Legler going back to 2012, which was used to “paper her file.” RP 4747, 4700, 4697-98; Ex. 221.³

Later on September 12, 2013, after having been earlier told to cease and desist her investigation into Young’s misconduct, DeVere was called to a meeting with VP of HR Beyers and Jensen. RP 3905. Also, present was Wendy Robbins, MSA’s Employee Concerns Program Manager. *Id.* Beyers told DeVere that she would “continue” her EEO investigation (which she understood to be the investigation into Young), but that Robbins would lead

³ At trial, the jury watched video deposition testimony of Young stating he was out of town when Atwood was terminated and had nothing to do with the termination, and saying he was against it. RP 2586-2589; CP 6350-6354; CP 6748. Counsel argued to the jury that contrary to his testimony, “Young was involved up to his elbows [in Atwood’s termination] and what he said at the outset was not true.” RP 4691.

the investigation and focus on allegations of time-card fraud against Atwood. RP 2067-69, 2075, 2459, Ex. 20 at Bates #196 (DeVere notes of the 9/12/13 meeting). The investigators were told that Armijo and Ruscitto wanted their investigation to conclude by September 18. RP 2069. This time, the investigators did not interview Young at the direction of Armijo direct reports Beyers and Jensen. RP 2076-77, 2086. Counsel argued that on September 16, Atwood was interviewed by Robbins and DeVere, and disclosed that Young created a hostile work environment based on gender, he treated women differently, he criticized a DOE woman manager, and made improper gender-based jokes, which she found more offensive because Young was a vice president, and she said the workplace was a chilled environment. Atwood also noted that “Young conducted work on behalf of the City of Kennewick . . . during the workday,” and stated that he restricted access to his calendar “because DOE got wind of it.” RP 4749-52. Counsel argued on this record that “she’s pretty much putting a vice president on report for timecard fraud.” RP 4754.

On this record, counsel argued in closing that on September 17, DeVere and Robbins briefed Beyers and Jensen on what Atwood had reported. RP 4757. Atwood was terminated two days later. RP 4759. Just prior to being terminated, Robbins told Atwood that she was vindicated in the investigation. RP 4759. The next day, Robbins documented her findings in an electronic database, *i.e.*, the “Record of Events.”⁴ Counsel argued that

⁴ See Exhibit 24 (9/20/13 entry): “There was no evidence of time charging violations, special treatment or hostile work environment. The expectations for requesting time off

Beyers refused to tell Atwood the basis for the termination, and he noted that no documents from 2013 produced by MSA stated the reasons for forcing her to resign. RP 4692-93. Counsel also argued that MSA had tampered with documents. First, the anonymous complaint against Young disappeared. RP 4739-40. MSA tried to substitute that complaint with another that looks like the complaint made secretly against Atwood in 2012. RP 4740. Second, counsel argued that the 2013 Record of Events was not to be changed according to Ms. Biberstine, who is the only person besides Wendy Robbins authorized to make those entries. RP 4742-43, 4693. Yet MSA sent another version of that document with five more lines under the 9/20/13 entry that softened the exoneration. RP 4693-94.

On this record, counsel argued that MSA was bound by the reasons given for Atwood's termination in a 2015 letter authored by defense counsel Denise Ashbaugh to the EEOC, because in interrogatory responses, rather than list the reasons for terminating Atwood, MSA identified the letter as a business record meant to respond under CR 33(c). RP 4695. Atwood's counsel reviewed the three reasons in closing: 1. not keeping Young advised of her whereabouts; 2. not providing advance notice of leave; 3. using relationship with DOE to circumvent Young's plans or directives. RP 4996. Each of these allegations had been addressed and dismissed by Investigator Robbins, and counsel addressed and rebutted each one to the jury. RP 4687-

are consistent throughout the PFM organization with both MSA and contracted personnel following the same protocol to obtain approvals from their Lead and/or Manager. Special treatment or exemption from the approval protocol was not confirmed. Case Closed.”

4702 (Claim #1); RP 4703-4707 (Claim #2); and RP 4708-4711 (Claim #3). Counsel also argued that claims made at trial that were not contained in Ashbaugh's 2015 letter to the EEOC, should be dismissed by the jury as fabricated because if they had happened they would have been stated in the 2015 letter to the EEOC. This included the allegation that Atwood retrieved budget records from a locked bin. *See* Maj. Op. at 9; RP 4710-11.⁵

B. The Court of Appeals Erroneously Concluded the Comparator Evidence is Irrelevant and Inadmissible

No Washington case analyzes comparator evidence as stringently as the Court of Appeals does here. The Court held, "A proper comparator in this case would be a male at-will employee in a position similar to that of a PFM project manager, against whom action was taken *for failing to be on site, available and locatable during working hours.*" Maj. Op. at 31 (emphasis added). This stringent test is in conflict with *Johnson v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, holding, "One test for pretext is whether (1) an employee outside the protected class (2) committed acts of *comparable seriousness* (3) but was not demoted or similarly disciplined." 80 Wn. App. 212, 227, 907 P.2d 1223 (1996) (reversing grant of summary judgment). RAP 13.4(b)(2). *See also Earl v. Nielsen Media Research, Inc.*, 658 F.3d 1108, 1114–15 (9th Cir. 2011); *Hawn v. Exec. Jet Mgmt., Inc.*, 615 F.3d

⁵ As to the WLAD gender claims, counsel argued that Armijo created a discriminatory corporate culture against women beginning in 2010, in which he attacks and demeans General Counsel Sandra Fowler, and transformed the executive's "third floor" for men. RP 4727-9; 3354-76 (Fowler testimony). Counsel compared the treatment of Atwood against MSA's treatment of men for "serious misconduct" under the Standards of Conduct during the time Armijo was in charge. *See* RP 4730-1 (Boynton); 4731 (Turner); 4732-33 (Michael Borchers--not challenged on appeal); and others.

1151, 1158 (9th Cir. 2010); *George v. Leavitt*, 407 F.3d 405, 414 (D.C. Cir. 2005)(issue of similarly situated is “question of fact for the jury”), *cited in Beck v. United Food & Commercial Workers Union, Local 99*, 506 F.3d 874, 885, n.5 (9th Cir. 2007). The Court’s test prevents the jury from even considering whether the other employees were similarly situated. “Juries embody the commonsense judgment of the community. ... Only with the greatest reluctance and ... clearest cause should judges—particularly those on appellate courts—consider second-guessing jury determinations.” *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 938, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).

“Proof of different treatment by way of comparator evidence is relevant and admissible but not required [in a WLAD case].” *Johnson v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc.*, 159 Wn. App. 18, 33, 244 P.3d 438 (2010). The Court of Appeals wrongly held, “Evidence of the unrelated discipline of [four] other employees was not relevant.”⁶ Maj. Op. at 37. The admissibility of comparator evidence at trial is an important issue in WLAD cases that merits this Court’s review, especially because the Court of Appeals invaded the province of the jury. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

“To review an evidentiary decision, we determine what evidentiary rules apply and then determine whether the trial judge acted within the discretion accorded by those rules.” *State v. Gunderson*, 181 Wn.2d 916,

⁶ The Court of Appeals mistakenly stated that Atwood agreed with MSA that an ER 404(b) analysis applied to the admission of comparator evidence, Maj. Op. at 30. Atwood did not agree that ER 404(b) applied. *See* RP 673 (distinguishing “comparators” from two “404(b) witnesses”); *accord* RP 746-47. The Court concluded that for its analysis, it “does not matter” if other employees were discriminated against or treated favorably. Maj. Op. at 30.

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