FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/30/2020 3:11 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99156-1

Court of Appeals No. 35872-1-III (Consolidated with Court of Appeals No. 35911-5-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JULIE M. ATWOOD,

Petitioner,

٧.

MISSION SUPPORT ALLIANCE, LLC and STEVE YOUNG,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.
Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099
241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
ken@appeal-law.com
shelby@appeal-law.com
Attorneys for Respondents

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Julie Atwood, an at-will employee, admitted that her gender discrimination and retaliation claims against her former employer Mission Support Alliance, LLC ("MSA") depended on alleged comparators. But they were MSA employees from a different time, in different departments, with different rights and managers, involving different conduct and discipline. Atwood's case depended too on another former employee's gender-discrimination allegations regarding different acts, occurring after Atwood had left MSA, and involving a different superior in a different department. The appellate court correctly held that these were not legitimate comparators and that the prior-bad-acts evidence was, in part, erroneously admitted. These errors were not harmless: Atwood admitted this was her case.

Atwood makes only passing reference to the grounds for review, none of which are satisfied. No conflicting decisions exist: the appellate court followed the applicable law. No substantial public interest exists: Atwood claims nothing more than being a "victim" in a WLAD case. All WLAD cases are important, but they do not all merit this Court's review.

The appellate decision is clear, careful, and correct. This Court should deny review.

FACTS RELEVANT TO ANSWER

Atwood fails to provide a meaningful statement of facts, instead relying on excerpts of her closing argument to the jury. Pet. at 4-11. To assist this Court, MSA summarizes the facts as set forth in the appellate decision. The facts are also detailed in MSA's opening brief at pages 5-10.

MSA, a federal contractor, supports the United States Department of Energy (DOE) and other federal contractors tasked with cleaning up the Hanford Site in Richland, Washington. *Atwood v. Mission Support Alliance, LLC*, No. 35872-1-III (Consolidated with No. 35911-5-III) at 2-3 (July 14, 2020) ("Unpub. Op.). MSA hired Atwood in February 2010 to serve as a project manager in MSA's Portfolio Management Division ("PFM"). *Id.* at 3. Atwood understood she was an "at will" employee who could be terminated "at any time for any reason, with or without cause or advance notice." *Id.* (quoting Ex. 41 at 2 (Atwood's offer letter)).

In September 2012, MSA received an anonymous complaint about Atwood through its Employee Concern ("EC") Program, a "whistleblower protection-type program that DOE requires of all of its contractors." Unpub. Op. at 7. The complaint noted that Atwood "created a hostile work environment through intimidation tactics,

bullying, and her influence with Jon Peschong of DOE," which she bragged about, along with her ability to have people fired. *Id.* (quoting Ex. 10A at 2). The complaint continued that Atwood was often "unaccountable," lied about her whereabouts, charged full days despite calling in sick, and openly used her influence with Peschong "to retaliate against MSA Senior Management" *Id* at 7-8. The author chose to remain anonymous, fearing Atwood would retaliate. *Id* at 8.

MSA's EC Program manager Wendy Robbins interviewed Atwood's immediate supervisor, Steve Young, who corroborated the complaint but gave Atwood a positive review based on her quality work product. *Id.* at 2, 8. Young added that it was difficult to act given Atwood's relationships at DOE, particularly with Peschong. *Id* at 8. Robbins discontinued her investigation, where management already knew about the issues with Atwood and was working to address them. *Id.* at 9.

On August 12, MSA received another complaint mentioning Atwood, identifying a problem in "Portfolio Management that is getting close to Hostile Work Environment or is already there." *Id.* at 12 (quoting Ex 215). That complaint noted that Atwood was gone without warning, that other staff were required to work harder to

cover for her, and that her relationships with DOE resulted in favorable treatment – an obvious "double standard." *Id.*

The parties dispute much of what happened next (*id.* at 18-29) but largely agree on the following (*id.* at 13-18):

- August 22: Young met with several HR staff and MSA's EEOC officer, Christine DeVere, joined and announced she was investigating an anonymous hostile work environment complaint.
- August 27: Young met with Atwood advising that her recent behavior violated his directives and followed up with an email reiterating PFM policies.
- August 28: DeVere conducted her first interview in the hostile work environment investigation.
- September 5: Young told DeVere and HR that he intended to resign. MSA's then-President Frank Armijo refused Young's resignation. Later that afternoon, DeVere's boss notified her that Young thought she was threatening him and told her to stop all interviews. Also that afternoon, Young assembled lead PFM members, aside from Atwood who could not be found, telling them he was being investigated and expected them to cooperate.

- September 6: Young told Atwood a complaint had been filed against him and to cooperate with the investigation.
- September 9: Atwood heard through her DOE relationships that she was being investigated for timecard fraud. When she asked Young whether the investigation was about her, he told her it was about him.
- September 12: Young and other MSA management met to address the ongoing problems with Atwood, agreeing there were consistent time-charging issues, numerous unauthorized absences, and a consistent pattern of being unaccounted for. They made no employment decision as the anonymous complaint naming Atwood was still under investigation. That afternoon, MSA instructed DeVere and Robbins to jointly investigate, tasking DeVere with continuing her hostile work environment investigation and Robbins with investigating claims regarding special treatment and time-charging. They concluded there was no evidence of time charging violations, special treatment, or hostile work environment.
- September 19: Atwood resigned in lieu of termination.

Atwood sued MSA and Young in August 2015, asserting at trial: (1) constructive discharge in violation of public policy; (2) retaliation for opposing discrimination; and (3) constructive termination substantially motivated by gender. *Id* at 5. Atwood claimed too that Young aided and abetted the statutory violations. *Id*.

MSA and Young denied liability, asserting legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for terminating Atwood's employment. These included Atwood's disregarding Young's requests and instructions, failing to provide notice of planned absences, and repeatedly using her relationship with DOE to avoid and circumvent Young's directives. *Id.* at 3-5. The jury returned a verdict for Atwood.

MSA timely appealed and won. Atwood now seeks this Court's review.

APPELLATE DECISION

In a 60-page decision authored by Judge Laurel Siddoway, the appellate court reversed, holding that numerous errors at trial conducted by Judge Douglas Federspiel, including the admission of irrelevant and prejudicial "comparator" evidence affected the verdict. In short, in a 1,200-1,350 person company, discipline for a handful of employees – some union members – from other departments with other managers, at different points in time, did not make Atwood's

claims more probable, but likely did confuse and prejudice the jury. Infra § B. Atwood draws attention to the dissent, omitting that Judge Robert Lawrence-Berrey expressly stated his agreement with "most of the majority's conclusions, including the need for a new trial on the question of future damages." Pet. at 1, 4, 17; Unpub. Op. Dissent at 1. Judge Lawrence-Berrey agreed too that the trial court erroneously admitted the supposed comparator evidence and that this error required reversal of Atwood's discrimination claim. Dissent at 2-4. He only disagreed that this error required reversal of Atwood's retaliation claims too. Id. at 3-4. Judge Kevin Korsmo joined the majority. Unpub. Op. at 61.

Atwood's Petition relies heavily on MSA's "Standards of Conduct," mentioning it nine times. Pet. at 2, 11-16. She begins by faulting the appellate court for alluding to the Standards of Conduct but failing to discuss them. *Id.* at 2. Atwood never once mentioned the Standards of Conduct in her 64-page Amended Response Brief.¹ This is not basis for "review."

_

¹ Atwood's first Response Brief was 85 pages and also did not mention the Standards of Conduct. The appellate court rejected it, ordering her to shorten it.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Atwood presents six separate issues for review. Pet. at 1.

MSA addresses each below. This Court should deny review.

A. The appellate court correctly declined to review the evidence in Atwood's favor where MSA did not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury's verdict. Pet. at 3-11.

Atwood's lead argument is that the appellate court erred in failing to review the evidence in her favor and in concluding her case was "not strong." Pet. at 4-11 (quoting Unpub. Op. at 2). Since MSA did not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury's verdict, the appellate court correctly held there was "no need" to review the evidence in Atwood's favor:

[MSA] does not contend on appeal that [Atwood's] evidence, if believed by the jury, was insufficient to support the verdict on liability. Liability is the controlling basis on which we reverse. Absent a sufficiency challenge, there is no need to conduct a review of the evidence in the light most favorable to Atwood.

Unpub. Op at 2, 39; see *Holland v. Columbia Irrigation Dist.*, 75 Wn.2d 302, 304, 450 P.2d 488 (1969) (quoting *Hellriegel v. Tholl*, 69 Wn.2d 97, 98, 417 P.2d 362 (1966)) (both holding that a sufficiency of the evidence challenge requires the court to review the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party).

Atwood takes out of context the court's statement that her case was not "strong." Pet. at 4-11. This statement comes after a lengthy discussion about the improper admission of alleged comparator evidence in the context of determining whether those errors were harmless. Unpub. Op. at 35-40. After finding that the alleged comparator evidence was irrelevant, that Atwood "misused" it, and that it had a "clear capacity to confuse the jury," the court stated that while Atwood's case was "sufficient," it "was not strong." *Id.* at 37-39. Thus, "the improper comparator evidence alone had a clear potential to affect the outcome of the trial." *Id.* at 40.

Atwood's remaining argument is nothing more than a recitation of her closing argument to the jury. Pet. at 4-11. This ignores that counsel's statements are not evidence, so they say nothing about the strength of her case. *Id.* And Atwood's closing was largely based on the very evidence the appellate court held inadmissible. See Unpub. Op. at 39. Atwood's reliance on this inadmissible evidence proves the appellate court's point: its erroneous admission was not harmless error.

B. The appellate court correctly reversed the trial court's decision allowing evidence of numerous "comparators" who are not comparators at all. Pet. at 11-16.

Atwood argues the appellate court applied an overly "stringent" comparator "test" in holding that a "proper comparator in this case would be a male at-will employee in a position similar to that of a PFM project manager, against whom action was taken for failing to be on site, available and locatable during working hours." Pet. at 11 (citing Unpub. Op. at 31). This is not a "test," but an illustration of the correct legal standard that "comparators" must be similarly situated to the plaintiff. Pet. at 11-12. The appellate court relied on Johnson v. DSHS, with which Atwood feigns a conflict. Compare Unpub. Op. at 31 with Pet. At 11 (both citing 80 Wn. App. 212, 227, 907 P.2d 1223 (1996)). There is no conflict – all agree that "[d]isparate treatment of similarly situated employees constitutes circumstantial evidence supporting a finding of discrimination or retaliation." Id. (emphasis supplied).

Atwood argues that her alleged comparators were "proper" without addressing the appellate court's decision. Pet. at 14-16. Atwood argues Lowell M.² was a proper comparator where he was

² The appellate court used first names and last initial. MSA follows suit.

accused of "late for work" misconduct, during the "relevant time frame," which she defines as "when Armijo was at MSA." Pet at 14-15. Lowell was a union member and "metal trades worker supervised by the manager of Electrical Utilities." Unpub. Op. at 31-32. He was given a last chance letter – progressive discipline bargained for by the union – two years *after* Atwood resigned in lieu of termination. *Id.*; RP 3171-72. He is not a proper comparator because he was a union member entitled to progressive discipline, had a dissimilar position, different decisionmaker, and remote time frame. *See* Unpub. Op. at 32.

Atwood claims Michael T. was a proper comparator because "he committed extremely serious misconduct." Pet. at 14. Michael was disciplined three years *before* Atwood resigned in lieu of termination. Unpub. Op. at 32. Atwood did not present evidence of Michael's position, department, or who wrote the disciplinary memo. *Id.* at 32-33. Indeed, even Michael's gender was unknown. *Id* at 33. He – or she – was not a proper comparator. *Id* at 32-33.

Atwood claims Scott B. was a proper comparator because he was a male vice president, reporting directly to Armijo, who engaged in serious misconduct. Pet. at 14. Scott was accused of off-site sexual advances toward a male employee's wife and retaliatory

discharge of that male employee. Unpub. Op. at 33-34. Atwood did not ask about the discharge claim, asking only about the claimed sexual misconduct. *Id.* at 34. "Scott came nowhere near being a proper comparator" – his conduct was off-site, a "third party objection resolved it," he worked in a different division, and no one involved in his discipline was involved in the decision to terminate Atwood's employment. *Id.* at 34-35. "The transparent reason Atwood offered the evidence was to present offensive sexual conduct committed by a management employee of a different MSA division." *Id.* at 35.

Finally, Atwood concedes that Mary R. was "not so much a comparator as a barometer." Pet. at 15. Mary, a woman, committed less serious "misconduct" and received less serious discipline. *Id.* Mary is not a proper comparator, where she is a woman, and where there was no evidence of her position, or whether any person disciplining Mary's "dissimilar workplace violation" was involved in the decision to terminate Atwood's employment. Unpub. Op. at 35.

As the appellate court correctly stated it, the "jury could not infer discrimination or retaliation from the fact that over a five year period, four of MSA's almost 1,200 to over 1,350 employees received discipline for unrelated workplace violations that was less harsh than

termination of employment." Unpub. Op. at 36. The court did not err, nor does Atwood even attempt to meet one of the grounds for review.

C. The appellate court correctly held that erroneously admitting comparator evidence was not harmless under the proper standard. Pet. at 16-19.

Atwood argues that the appellate court erroneously applied the harmless error analysis applicable in criminal cases, rather than the standard that an evidentiary error requires reversal "only if the error, within reasonable probability, materially affected the outcome of the trial." Pet. at 17 (quoting *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 127, 857 P.2d 270 (1993)). The appellate court correctly held that an "error is prejudicial if it affects, or presumptively affects, the outcome of the trial." Unpub. Op. at 35 (citing *Diaz v. State*, 175 Wn.2d 457, 472, 285 P.3d 873 (2012)). Atwood does not point to any meaningful distinction in these standards. There is none.

Atwood does not actually make a harmless error argument regarding her discrimination claim, arguing only that the inadmissible comparator evidence "was not, within reasonable probability, material to the outcome of [her] retaliation claims." Pet. at 18. Citing other evidence that could arguably support the verdict does not address the question whether admitting the comparator evidence likely affected the jury's verdict. *Id.* Nor does Atwood answer the

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